# SLU

# Forest policy, continuous tree cover forest and uneven-aged forest management in Sweden's boreal forest

Robert Axelsson

# Licentiate thesis

The Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Department of Forest Products **Institutionen för skogens produkter** 

Uppsala 2008 ISSN: 1654-1383 ISBN: 978-91-85911-56-1

Report No 7

Rapport nr 7

# SLU

# Forest policy, continuous tree cover forest and uneven-aged forest management in Sweden's boreal forest

Robert Axelsson

# Licentiate thesis

The Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Department of Forest Products I Institutionen för skogens produkter School for Forest Engineers/ ISBN: 97 Skogsmästarskolan i Skinnskatteberg

Uppsala 2008 ISSN: 1654-1383 ISBN: 978-91-85911-56-1

Report No 7

Rapport nr 7

# Abstract

Uneven-aged forest management based on selection systems is surrounded by strong feelings in Sweden and debates for and against have been going on for more than 100 years. The shift from selective felling, or high-grading, to sustained-yield forest policy eventually led to the use of clear cutting forest management systems on all boreal site types. The need for a more diverse set of silvicultural systems that emulate natural disturbance regimes has been emphasized in the recent Swedish forest policy debate. There are two aims of this thesis; 1) to estimate the amount of boreal continuous tree cover forest sites, i.e. sites that naturally were dominated by forests with gap phase and cohort dynamic, and the amount of pre-industrial agricultural woodlands, how much of such sites that hold old forest today and how they are managed, 2) To explore local forestry actor's views on and knowledge about alternatives to the clear cutting silvicultural system. Two study areas, one in the south and one in the north part of the Swedish boreal forest, were examined using multiple methods for estimates of forest conditions and qualitative interviews with local forestry actors. In both study areas about 10 % of the forest landscape consisted of continuous tree cover sites. In addition there were high altitude mountain forests in the northern study area, and anthropogenic wooded grasslands in the southern study area. The present harvesting system was similar on all site types. In the southern study area forestry actors were more positive to unevenaged forest management systems than in the northern area. Foresters in both study areas blamed selection felling systems for the past unsustainable exploitation of the Swedish forests and were negative to using selection systems as alternatives for sustained yield production. However, they were positive to them as a complement to satisfy social and to some extent ecological values. To encourage the use of selection systems as a complement to the clear cutting system in areas with suitable site conditions and in areas with specific management goals there is a need for more knowledge about the consequences for different dimensions of sustainable forest management. Finally, to implement sustainable forest management a landscape approach is

needed. This includes emulation of natural disturbance regimes for biodiversity, management of forests for social use, and improved cooperation among land owners at multiple scales in space and time.

**Key words:** continuous cover forestry, forest dynamics, forest management system, forest policy, forest governance, boreal forest, social forestry, biodiversity.

*Author's address:* Robert Axelsson, Department of Forest Products and School for Forest Engineers, SLU Box 43, 739 21 Skinnskatteberg, Sweden *E-mail:* Robert.Axelsson@smsk.slu.se I dedicate this thesis to my wife Lourdes that has managed to cope with me and care for our three children despite me being absent in front of my computer or away from home on field work. Without your support this work had not been possible.

# **List of Publications**

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

**I.** Axelsson, R., Angelstam, P. & Svensson, J. (2007). Natural forest and cultural woodland with continuous tree cover in Sweden: How much remains and how is it managed? Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research, 22, 545-558.

**II.** Axelsson, R., Angelstam, P. & Hagegård, E. Uneven-aged forest management in boreal Sweden: local forestry actor's perceptions (manuscript).

Paper I is reproduced with the kind permission of the publisher Taylor & Francis.

# Abbreviations

ASIO	Absent or Almost never Seldom Infrequently Often					
CTC	Continuous Tree Cover					
DEM	Digital Elevation Model					
EU	European Union					
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations					
GDP	Gross Domestic Product					
ITTO	International Tropical Timber Organization					
IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources					
kNN	k Nearest Neighbour					
MCPFE	Ministerial Conference on the Protection of Forest in Europe					
NFI	National Forest Inventory					
SI	Site Index					
SUS	Skogsvårdsorganisationens Utvärdering av Skogspolitikens effekter (English: Swedish forest agency's Evaluation of Forest policy effects)					
SMHI	Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute					
TWI	Topographic Wetness Index					
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme					
VHU	Vetenskap för Hållbar Utveckling (English: Science for Sustainable Development)					
WCED	World Commission on Environment and Development					
WW1	World War 1					
WW2	World War 2					
WWF	World Wide Fund for nature					

# Contents

Abstract	
List of Publications	
Abbreviations	
Introduction	9
Terminology and definitions	13
SELECTION FELLING SYSTEMS AND SELECTIVE CUTTINGS	13
	13
Some perspectives on continuous cover forestry	17
	17
AN ENVIRONMENTAL PERSPECTIVE	17
A SOCIAL PERSPECTIVE	18
CONTINUOUS COVER FORESTRY AND CLIMATE CHANGE	19
Study areas	21
Methods	24
NATURAL SCIENCES	24
HUMAN SCIENCES	25
Results	27
CONTINUOUS TREE COVER FORESTS AND THEIR MANAGEMENT Potential and present amount CTC Future amount CTC	<b>27</b> 27 28
Perceptions About UNEVEN-AGED FOREST MANAGEMENT Ability to use and attitudes about uneven-aged forest management Knowledge about uneven-aged forest management	<b>29</b> 29 32
Discussion	34
THE PRESENT SITUATION IN SWEDEN	34
Some reflections on the methods used and the validity of the results $\_$	36
GAPS RELATED TO CONTINUOUS COVER FORESTRY	38
TOWARDS SUSTAINABLE FOREST MANAGEMENT AND FUTURE RESEARCH	40
Conclusion	42
References	43
Acknowledgements	58

# Introduction

When local industrial use of Swedish forests began in the 17th century it started, as in most other countries, as an unsustainable exploitation of the most valuable trees. In this thesis I will use the term exploitative to describe the early industrial forest use in Sweden were efforts were concentrated on the development of technology to extract timber and with limited value-added production. This phase of Swedish forestry has afterwards been described as an unsustainable use of the forest resource and large forest tracts have even required restoration to regain productivity (for example Hagner, 2005b; Enander, 2007). Initially, industries where few and the forest resource was vast. It is thus guite a natural development to first learn how to use a resource and then when it is noticed that the resource need efficient management learn how to manage it in a long-term sustainable way. Larger trees were harvested but no regeneration measures followed. If a forest became degraded, timber was searched for in other areas. When the demand for timber increased, more or less all accessible large trees were harvested (Enander, 2004). During the late 19th century it became evident that the use of the forest resource was not long-term sustainable and that something had to be done. Development of modern sustained-yield forestry in Sweden developed gradually from its roots in the early 19th century (e.g., af Ström, 1830), through several local applications in southern Sweden (Obbarius, 1857), and the 1903 forest law.

More than a century ago it was debated whether clear cutting or selection felling was the best system to use (Wallmo, 1897). Held against clear cutting was the cost for manual regeneration (Enander, 2007). The first real effort towards a sustained yield of wood from the Swedish forests was the 1903 Forestry Act. Land owners were for the first time required to secure forest regeneration. The implementation of the 1903 Forestry Act until about 1920 started well and the area of new stands established by artificial regeneration (planting and sowing) increased year by year in southern Sweden (Enander, 2007). However, around 1920 many forest owners returned to harvesting methods that according to the law allowed them to use natural regeneration to save money (Appelstrand, 2007). The supervision of the law implementation was poor, and the demand for timber 1910-1920 decreased due to the recession and the WW1 (1914-1918). The economic situation continued to be unstable with a more or less world-wide depression in the late 1920s that led straight into WW2 (1939-1945). During this time of economic and general uncertainty the first national inventories of the Swedish forest resource took place.

The results were alarming (Anon., 1932). Large parts of Swedish forests were in a condition so poor that their capacity to supply timber to the industry was not possible to rely on (Hagner, 2005). It was clear that something had to be done.

After WW2 intensive work resulted in the 1948 Forestry Act with the aim to secure a long-term sustained yield of wood to the industry. At this time a window of opportunity for a major change had opened due to high demands for wood products on the world market and the alarming reports on the state of Sweden's forests. Thus, a major change in forest management and use of the forest resource began. A main condition for this was that forest managers and owners had to start to use a different time horizon. It was no longer enough to earn money on a yearly or shorter time frame. Now there was a need to plan for a full rotation of about 100 years or longer. This change in thinking, planning and management was the first step towards sustainable forest management in Sweden, i.e. the economic dimensions were realised. The 1948 Forestry Act meant a major change in forest management because of the emphasis on sustained vield and profitability led to the wide introduction of the clear cutting Economic sustainability, svstem. profitability and social considerations were included as general principles together with regulations on minimum harvesting age of the forest (Enander, 2007; Appelstrand, 2007). The years after the 1948 forest law coincided with the introduction of new technologies. First the chainsaw and then heavier and more efficient forest machines were introduced. Along with improved economic profitability this allowed for intensive management with secured regeneration and other measures that safeguarded a sustained yield of timber. About 1970 Swedish forestry was more or less fully reformed, highly mechanised, intensive and economically successful. The vision of a sustained yield of timber for the industry was secured even if large areas of forest still needed to be restored after the previous unsustainable exploitation. Among foresters the pride over the success grew big. Successful forestry was and still is associated with intensive even-aged clear cutting management systems. This exploitative phase has among foresters been associated with selective and selection felling systems. The harvesting method was most often selective but it was often carelessly called selection felling (Enander, 2005; Siiskonen, 2006; Lundqvist et al., 2007). Since then there have been no clear distinction between selective and selection felling systems in the Swedish debate (Paper I in this thesis). This is interesting since the main problem was that selective systems were used with no efforts to safeguard or monitor regeneration and growth. It is hard to give an exact year for the transfer to sustained yield forest management since it was a gradual process that occurred at different times in different parts of the country.

However, already in the 1970s a reaction from the society came. Due to large clear cuttings, scarification, cleaning, drainage and the use of herbicides to control deciduous tree species and protect plants, the forests were used so intensively so they started to change in appearance. In the north there was a big increase in clear cuttings with the biggest being 100-500 ha large (Enander, 2007). People saw the changes and several reports supported their worries (Palmstierna, 1967; Gillberg, 1973; Ekelund & Hamilton, 2001; Enander, 2007). In the 1970s there was an intensive debate about clear cuts, scarification and the use of chemicals in forestry (Anon., 1974; Enander, 2003). This was also reinforced by several international reports and books that pointed out that human activity had affected the environment negatively, that the carriage capacity of earth was harmed, and that human use of natural resources were not sustainable (Carson, 1962; Erlich, 1968; Dubos and Ward, 1971; Club of Rome, 1972; Molina and Rowland, 1974).

In 1974 environmental considerations were included in the forest law (Ekelund and Hamilton, 2001; Boström, 2002). In the 1979 Forestry Act several issues to support productivity were included but also a strengthening of the supervision of environmental considerations. The continued stream of reports on unsustainable practises and the growing public worries pushed policy-makers to action. In 1980 the Brandt commission presented its North-South: A programme for survival report (Brandt Commission, 1980) and the IUCN/UNEP/WWF presented the World Conservation Strategy: Living Resource Conservation for Sustainable Development (IUCN/UNEP/WWF, 1980). In the late 1970s an intensive debate on the use of herbicides to control competitive deciduous tree species resulted in regulations against it (Enander, 2007). In 1987 sustainable development was made the overall goal for environmental policy globally with the Brundtland report (WCED, 1987). Sustainable forest management (MCPFE, 1993; Burton et al., 2003; Rametsteiner and Mayer, 2004) is to manage and use forests according to the principles of sustainable development and the ecosystem approach (Wilkie et al., 2003) and it has its roots in the forest principles and Agenda 21 that were adopted at the World summit in Rio (1992) and the Helsinki declaration (MCPFE, 1993; FAO/ITTO, 2004). Following the world summit the new Swedish Foretsry Act of 1993 stated that economical and environmental goals are equally important and that there is a need for a more diverse set of silvicultural systems (Anon., 1993; Anon., 2002b; Enander, 2007; Appelstrand, 2007). More recently also social goals have been included in the Swedish forest policy in line with the principles of sustainable forest management (MCPFE, 1998; 2003, Anon., 2001; 2002a). This was further reinforced by the 2001 and 2006 evaluations of the Swedish forest policy (Anon. 2002b; Mikaelsson, et al., 2006).

To realise the vision stated in international, EU and Swedish policies on sustainable forest management there is a need for a diverse set of forest management methods, aims and systems for governance, planning and management at local to regional and national scales. A recent evaluation of Swedish forestry showed that 96 % of all final fellings were done by the clear cutting system (Anon., 2002b). Paper I showed that alternatives to clear cutting were not correlated to specific site types. This shows that there are no, very limited or only recent efforts to adapt forestry operations to emulate natural disturbance regimes, i.e. consistent with close to nature-forestry and similar concepts.

The aims of this thesis are to (1) propose a definition of continuous tree cover forest i.e. forest on sites that naturally were dominated by forests with gap phase and cohort dynamic and pre-industrial agricultural woodland disturbance regimes, estimate the amount continuous tree cover forest sites in the Swedish boreal forest, how much of it that holds old forest and how it is managed, (2) explore local forestry stakeholders' ability to use and prerequisites for, attitudes towards and knowledge about alternatives to the clear cutting system. In addition to the main research questions I review the Swedish forest policy development, discuss related terminology on continuous cover forestry, and provide some different perspectives. Hopefully this thesis could contribute to a constructive discussion on pros and cons of uneven-aged forest management, i.e. silvicultural systems that aim for a continuous tree cover forest, by answering questions like: What is a continuous tree cover forest? What is continuous cover forestry? Where could it be used and why? The research approach in this thesis is interdisciplinary and terminology from Myrdal (2005) has been used.

# **Terminology and definitions**

#### **SELECTION FELLING SYSTEMS AND SELECTIVE CUTTINGS**

In Sweden the use and usefulness of uneven-aged forest management has been and is still contested (Karlsson & Lönnstedt, 2006a; b). To be able to discuss the pros and cons of uneven-aged selection felling systems for economic, ecological and social dimensions of sustainable forest management there is a need to clarify the terminology regarding what uneven-aged forest management is. There is also a need to specify on what site types and for what dimensions of sustainable forest management alternatives to clear cutting systems are beneficial (e.g., Angelstam, 2003). In particular, it is important to understand the definitions of selection harvesting and selective cutting. The selection felling system means felling of scattered single trees and/or small groups of trees selected over the whole harvesting area (Matthews, 1989). The size and age of remaining trees should be maintained so that all age classes are represented. A suitable mixture of species should be maintained. Young saplings should be freed from suppression, and defective stems should be removed if they hamper the development of better ones. Proper management to secure regeneration is as important as for any silvicultural system. These recommendations may be adjusted if the aim of management is other than timber and pulpwood production. By contrast, selective cutting means high-grading or high-dimension felling. All valuable large dimension trees are felled and no management is carried out to secure regeneration and to improve the growth and quality of the remaining trees (Anon, 1999b). While this is not a silvicultural system (Matthews, 1999), it is still practised in many areas around the world. Selective methods used in Sweden pre-1950 were often termed selection felling and this confusion contributed to giving unevenaged forest management its poor reputation (Schutz, 1994; O'Hara, 2002; Enander, 2005; Siiskonen, 2006; Lundqvist et al., 2007). Selection felling systems qualify as a form of uneven-aged forest management.

#### **CONTINUOUS TREE COVER FOREST**

The Swedish Forest Agency has proposed the following definition of forests with a continuous tree cover (CTC) (Anon., 2004). "The extent of individual stands should be at least 0.25 ha and they should have had a continuous forest cover with no major changes in tree species during at least 300 years. In addition, the forest should have held a minimum of 30 m3 ha-1 of living trees during this period. In mixed forests there should be at least one species with over 10 m3 ha-1". In principle, this is similar to the concept of ancient and semi-natural woodlands (Watkins, 1990; Schuck et al., 1994; Peterken, 1999).

However, to make the concept of CTC acceptable, useful and understandable it is important to connect it to ecological theories and empirical data about forest ecosystems. It is today commonly accepted that disturbances are an important part of forest ecosystems. Previous researchers thought a forest developed through several steps of succession to a final steady state called the climax (Clements, 1936). Clements and his colleagues probably noted disturbances but overemphasized the steady state or climax in old forests (Kuuluvainen, 2002a). However, over the years scientists noticed that there was no steady state in natural forests, and the theory on natural disturbance regimes started to develop. Since the 1970s the ideas has developed into commonly accepted theories on natural disturbance regimes (Pickett and White 1985; Falinski, 1986; Oliver and Larsson, 1996; Attiwill 1994; Rülcker et al., 1994; Fries et al., 1997; Bergeron et al. 1998; Engelmark, 1999; Hunter, 1999; Angelstam & Kuuluvainen, 2004).

As the new theories on natural disturbance regimes spread there was a need to adapt this new knowledge to conservation and forestry. As a response to this need the ASIO-model was developed (Rülcker et al., 1994; Angelstam, 1998). It divides the forest into different types depending on the relative frequency of fire disturbance in different site types; A – absent or almost never, S- seldom, I – infrequently and O – often; representing a gradient from wet tall herb to dry lichen. It offers a simple and robust way to emulate some of the features of the fire disturbance regime with a landscape perspective. The aim was to offer a model for forest management that was easy to use and understand (e.g., Fries et al. 1997). This does not mean that a forest management unit or protected area where the ASIO-model is applied should look exactly like a boreal forest landscape affected by a natural fire disturbance regime. Rather forest management should be inspired by the natural disturbance regimes. For the implementation of the ASIO-model in the context of biodiversity conservation (i.e., to maintain species, habitats and ecological processes) a critical challenge is to identify sufficient amounts of different disturbance regimes on a landscape level. Focal species is one approach that can be used to provide quantitative estimates (e.g., Roberge 2006 PhD).



Figure 1. Drawing illustrating six developmental stages during the succession after stand-replacing disturbances such as fire or strong wind. In the boreal forest of Fennoscandia and Russia an early deciduous and a late coniferous phase is typical. Most developmental stages can return to the first stage following disturbance, resulting in a multitude of successional pathways (left). Cohort dynamics in a dry Scots pine forest is shown in the upper right corner, and gap dynamics in a wet Norway spruce stand in the lower right corner (Angelstam and Kuuluvainen, 2006; drawing by Martin Holmer).

Inspired by the natural disturbance regime paradigm, the ASIOmodel and site adapted forestry (Lundmark, 1986) I propose a definition of a continuous tree cover forest as a forest where standreplacing events were very rare in the naturally dynamic and preindustrial cultural landscape. Such forests and woodlands were dominated by old and large trees, standing and lying dead wood and often held a diverse horizontal and vertical stand structure, and with trees in different age classes. This was a result of different natural (forest) and antropogenic (cultural woodland) disturbance regimes, climate, site conditions, and landscape topography. My proposed ecological definition is based on the forest disturbance regime paradigm. A continuous tree cover forest belongs to either the multicohort or gap phase dynamics groups (Falinski, 1986; Rülcker et al., 1994; Fries et al., 1997; Angelstam & Kuuluvainen, 2004), or the wooded grasslands of the pre-industrial cultural landscape (e.g., Peterken, 1999).

In a naturally dynamic boreal forest landscape the multi-cohort and gap phase dynamics groups is found mainly on dry pine and wet spruce sites, respectively (Falinski, 1986; Rülcker et al., 1994; Fries et al., 1997; Angelstam & Kuuluvainen, 2004). A cultural woodland continuous tree cover forest is defined as wooded grassland since this is the main culturally caused woodland type in Sweden (e.g., Ihse, 1995). Here I follow the FAO definition of forest, i.e. with a minimum of 10 % crown cover (Anon., 1999a). When trees grows in the open Swedish cultural landscape they develop more and larger branches as well as crowns many times bigger than in a forest and will thus provide quite large and important habitat structures for birds, insects and sedentary organism even at low tree densities. During the 20th century, as forest management practices generally encouraged removal of deciduous trees, the cultural woodlands provided refuges for many threatened species (Tucker & Evans, 1997; Kirby & Watkins, 1998; Mikusinski et al., 2003). All continuous tree cover forests vary in structure, composition, density, and tree species, in both time and space.

It should be noted that the definition proposed here does not exclude forests that fit under the Swedish Forest Agency's definition, i.e. old forests on mesic sites. A part of the CTC forest in the naturally dynamic and pre-industrial cultural landscape became old by chance or because of landscape topography. However, the majority of CTC forest is to be found on dry and wet sites and sites with humid climate.

In the future this definition might need to be revised to include also new types of production forests and cultural CTC forests that implementation of the principles of sustainable forest management will give rise to. Here I mainly think of protective forests along and around streams, lakes, roads and urban areas, forests that provide pleasant scenery, recreational forests in the vicinity of urban centres and larger areas in more remote areas (see Innes and Hoen, 2005). In addition to this the safeguarding of ecosystem services vital to human survival might also give rise to new continuous cover forests in the future.

# Some perspectives on continuous cover forestry

#### AN ECONOMIC PERSPECTIVE

It is often claimed that continuous cover forestry is negative for economical reasons. Probably that is true if the clear cutting management system is compared with uneven-aged continuous cover forestry, no other values than timber production are considered, and the fact that logistic systems and industries in Sweden are adapted to clear cutting systems. There are reports on how much money that would be lost on the national level if continuous cover forestry would replace the clear cutting management system in Sweden (Karlsson, B. & Lönnstedt, L., 2006b). In paper I we showed that about 10 % of the forest in Sweden was of site types were alternatives to the clear cutting system could be considered for biodiversity conservation reasons. In addition management for recreation, energy, carbon sequestration, adaptation to climate change and other ecosystem services might require alternatives to the present forest management system (Costanza et al., 1997; Daly, 1997; Tahvanainen et al, 2001; Linder, 2000; Noss, 2001; Kraxner et al, 2002).

#### AN ENVIRONMENTAL PERSPECTIVE

There is wide agreement that the structure and composition of natural forests are formed by its disturbance dynamics (e.g., Sprugel, 1991; Kuuluvainen, 1994, 2002b; Angelstam, 1998; Bergeron et al., 2002: Korpilahti and Kuuluvainen, 2002; Angelstam and Kuuluvainen, 2004). Natural disturbance regimes results in a diverse forest landscape with respect to tree age distribution, structures and tree species (Kuuluvainen et al., 1998, Angelstam, 1998; 2002; Pennanen, 2002). To make site adaptive forestry easier to implement the disturbance regime paradigm for boreal and temperate natural forests was used with its division of the forest into three main groups (e.g., Falinski, 1986; Rülcker et al., 1994; Fries et al., 1997; Angelstam and Kuuluvainen, 2004): (1) Succession dynamics on mesic sites with large-scale disturbance regimes, resulting in largely even-aged stands with successions of young to old-growth deciduous, coniferous and mixed stands. (2) Multi-cohort dynamics on dry and poor sites, normally dominated by Scots pine (Pinus silvestris) or in the south Oak (Quercus robur) in several age classes, where low-intensity ground fires often killed younger trees and left most of the older and larger trees intact. (3) Gap phase dynamics with small-scale disturbances, but rarely fire, on moist to wet sites, in humid climates or where landscape topography protects against large scale disturbances. Norway spruce (Picea abies) and other shade tolerant species dominate. The forest is multi layered with smaller gaps due to trees that die of age, biotic and abiotic stress. To mimic a natural disturbance regime there is a need to use a diverse set of silvicultural systems (Angelstam, 2003). Uneven-aged selection felling systems would be one of several important tools. However, here we need to understand that there are large differences within the uneven-aged forest management concept ranging from intensive industrial to close-to-nature. Management using intensive industrial uneven-aged forestry does not promote biodiversity while a well managed network of close-to-nature managed forest stands will.

#### A SOCIAL PERSPECTIVE

The word social refers to the society, its organisation and people. A development that is sustainable to the society, its organisation and people is proposed by Thin (2002) to include 1) social justice, 2) solidarity, 3) participation, and 4) security. In addition to this the Swedish National Institute of Public Health has pointed out human wellbeing as a major goal for sustainable development (Kjellström et al., 2005). This is well in line with international policy (MCPFE, 1998; Innes and Hoen, 2005) and the Swedish Forest Agency's interpretation of sustainable forest management (Nordanstig, 2004).

Alternative forest management approaches have been advocated to satisfy social values such as recreation and tourism, both in Sweden (Lindhagen, 1996; Rydberg & Falck, 2000; Rydberg, 2001) and internationally (Kimmins, 1991; Wenner, 2000; Konijnendijk, 2003; Tabbush, 2004; O'Brien, 2005). However, social dimensions of sustainable forest management change over time and are thus different in countries with different levels of social development (MCPFE, 2003). In Sweden today human wellbeing and parts of the solidarity, participation and security points above qualifies as important parts of the social dimension of sustainable forest management. However, only security aspects and human wellbeing applies to the continuous cover forestry concept specifically. Under security I like to divide the different aspects in three groups of threats that could be avoided or decreased with continuous cover forestry at four spatial scales. Locally: noise and air pollution, land slides, wind caused damage, local climate, and flooding; regionally: flooding, and degradation of ecosystem services; and nationally: accusations of unsustainable forestry, degradation of ecosystem services, and climate change; and internationally: climate change and degradation of ecosystem services. Climate change and continuous cover forestry will be further elaborated in a separate paragraph in this thesis. Some of these aspects are also valid for human wellbeing. Other aspects

that are of importance to human wellbeing are accessible forest of good quality for recreation and tourism (Koch och Kennedy, 1991; Bolshakov, 2000; Rydberg, 2001; ), to maintain the cultural landscape and provide nice views and the perception of a sustainable landscape to local people (Anon., 2000). This is important for rural communities' potential to attract entrepreneurs and qualified manpower. Many rural communities have been dependent on the forest resource and some still are. The livelihood aspect of sustainable forest management is pointed out in European level forest policy (MCPFE, 1998). Social dimensions of sustainable forest management are complex and often hard to grasp. Hence there is a need for an adaptive and learning management process and wide cooperation to address these issues (MCPFE, 1998; MCPFE, 2003; Campbell and Sayer, 2003; Innes and Hoen, 2005).

#### **CONTINUOUS COVER FORESTRY AND CLIMATE CHANGE**

The forest sector can play a significant role for the accumulation of greenhouse gases (Makundi, 1997). A climate change perspective on forestry could be divided into two parts, namely mitigation and adaptation. It should also be noted that climate change impact locally could be both positive and negative but implies a great uncertainty. Both mitigation and adaptation relate to costs. A successful mitigation of climate change implies efforts from all over the world, not only from negatively affected areas (Pacala and Sokolow, 2004).

Mitigation of climate change means to take actions to control or reverse the climate change process. From a forestry perspective this can be done by; 1) increasing the capacity of forests to store carbon; 2) replace fossil fuel use by the use of bioenergy; 3) increasing the forested area (Pacala and Sokolow, 2004). From a continuous cover forestry perspective mainly the first alternative to increase the capacity of forests to store carbon is valid. This implies an increase in standing volume, a change to other or mixed tree species or both (Karjalainen et al., 2002). Close to nature management using unevenaged forest management might be the best way to multiple use forestry and mitigation of climate change (Kraxner et al., 2003). According to Newell and Stavins (2000) mitigation of carbon is more cost effective if trees are not periodically harvested. Here continuous cover forestry could potentially play a role. In contradiction Taverna et al. (2007) found that the optimal forestry climate change mitigation is to maximise the annual increment on a sustainable level, harvest, develop systems for cascade use of forest products and to use rest wood for energy production. Cascade use means that the wood should have one or several use cycles before it finally is used for

energy production. The cascade use concept is in line with the production of slower growing wood qualities and wood products with longer life cycles that have been discussed (Kraxner, 2002). However, it has been estimated that only 5 % of the forest sector carbon is in forest products and 95 % is in the forest ecosystem. In some European countries, including Sweden were harvesting is less then the annual increment the carbon storage is increasing with present management systems (Karjalainen et al., 2002).

Adaptation to climate change implies activities to counteract the negative effects and to reduce vulnerability of socio-ecological systems to experienced and expected effects (Scheraga & Grambsch, 1998). This means mainly to secure ecosystem services needed for the survival and wellbeing of humans and nature (Daly, 1997). Ecosystem services are very costly to replace if functions are lost (Costanza et al., 1997). Noss (2000) lists a series of forest management practices that are likely to support the maintenance of biodiversity and ecological functions during climate change. Here follows the management practices from the list that could need the use of continuous cover forestry; 1) representing forest types across environmental gradients in reserves i.e. to include all different forest types in the network of formally protected areas; 2) protecting climatic refugia at multiple scales; 3) avoiding fragmentation and providing connectivity, especially parallel to climatic gradients i.e. to provide dispersal and migration corridors for organisms that need to move to survive climate change; 4) providing buffer zones for adjustment of reserve boundaries; 5) practicing low-intensity forestry and preventing conversion of natural forests to plantations. According to Krankina et al. (1997) fast adaptation of long-lived boreal forests is a less likely scenario.

When it comes to factors affecting timber production adaptation might be supported through a more diverse forest that could be managed with continuous cover forestry methods (Spittlehouse and Stewart, 2003). Most probably a more diverse forest is more adaptable to the new disturbance situation that climate change might result in (Dale et al., 2001). To be able to maintain the production of also traditional forest products alternatives to the even-aged clear cutting system are needed. Here continuous cover forestry can play a role (Makundi, 1997).

# Study areas

There are large regional differences in the history of forest use and the development of silvicultural systems in Europe (Eliasson, 2002; Angelstam, 2003; Kardell, 2004; Holmberg, 2005). This means that different forest historical phases can often be found at the same time in different regions as illustrated by our study areas (Angelstam et al., 1997). The two study areas were selected to exemplify regional differences with respect to land-use and forest management history in Sweden's boreal forest region (Figure 2). In addition to the description of the forest policy development in Sweden presented in the introduction some differences between the study areas will be pointed out here.



Figure 2. Location of the two study areas. The grey areas are 50-km wide bands around the "Limes norrlandicus" in the south and the "Cultivation limit" in the north used for the sample plot estimates. The darker grey squares are 50x100 km squares used for the mixed spatially explicit methods estimate, and the dots represent the forest management plans collected for the stand scale estimate. Interviews with local forestry actors were made in the same areas as where forest management plans were collected.

The southern study area located around the "Limes norrlandicus" (Figure 2; Selander, 1955; Fransson, 1965) includes both upland areas with a long forest and land use history and lowland areas that were cleared for agricultural purposes more than 1000 years ago. Eventually the iron industry in south-central Sweden's Bergslagen region grew big and replaced the local saw mills as the main user of wood. The wood was used to produce charcoal that was needed for the iron production. In Bergslagen intensive harvesting started several hundred years ago, driven by the mining industry (Wieslander, 1936). During the 17th and 18th centuries, a large part of the world's iron production originated from the Bergslagen region (Eriksson, 1955). Due to the strong demand for charcoal to the iron industry the forest rotation time was short and stands younger than 50 years of age were often harvested (Ek, 1995). Starting prior to this period and continuing through it, the forest resource was also heavily exploited for timber. First the large dimension trees were harvested and then smaller and smaller trees (Enander, 2004; 2005).

The long history of land use and development with industry, forestry and farming in Bergslagen resulted also in a cultural landscape with continuous tree cover forests i.e. the wooded grasslands.

Today land ownership in Bergslagen is fragmented with about 65 % of the properties smaller than 1000 hectares in size. Only 11 % of the land is owned by the government, whereas large companies owns about 18 % and the rest is shared among municipalities, the Swedish church, commons and private companies (Paper I).

The northern study area is located in north-western Sweden (Västerbotten and Norrbotten counties) around the "Cultivation limit" in western Lapland (Figure 2; Lundmark, 2005). The study area covers a gradient from north boreal to sub-alpine mountain forest. In this area the history of industrial forestry is relatively short (Borgegård, 1973). In Västerbotten County the main force affecting forests and forestry was the arrival of the timber frontier in the late 19th century associated with the export of wood to markets abroad (Angelstam et al., 2004). In fact, large parts of the forests close to the mountains have still today not been subject to intensive forest management (Forsell and Axelsson, 1990; Paper I). As in Bergslagen the forest resource in accessible areas was initially heavily exploited both on government and privately owned land. The main way of harvesting was using selective cuttings. This unsustainable forestry practice was supported by government instructions for forestry on government owned land and regional laws on selective cuttings in the coastal parts of Västerbotten and Norrbotten counties as well as by a special law (Swedish: utsyningslagen) regarding private land further away from the coast (Enander, 2005).

Land ownership patterns are different in the northern study area with less fragmentation and about 23 % of properties less than 1000 hectares in size. In the northern study area land was to a large extent owned by the government (58 %). Large forest companies owned about 13 %, commons 5 % and the rest was shared by owners like municipalities, the church, and private companies (Paper I).

# Methods

#### NATURAL SCIENCES

For the landscape scale estimates all sample plots from a 100-km wide band centred on the southernmost 350 km of the "cultivation line" in the north and the "Limes Norrlandicus" in south-central Sweden (Figure 2) were extracted from the National Forest Inventory (NFI) database (Anon., 2002c). Several variables and parameter values were used together with ground moisture to identify continuous tree cover forest sites. In the northern study area it was assumed that continuous tree cover forests are also present at higher altitudes due to the moist oceanic climate. Modelled data on precipitation from the Swedish Meteorological Institute and digital elevation model (DEM) data was used to extract sample plots in this climatic zone (Angström, 1958; Anon., 1999c). The age distributions of forest on different potential continuous tree cover sites and mesic sites, as identified in the NFI, were compared. Since it is hard to identify very old forest using remote sensing methods the approach was instead to remove forest younger than 140 years and to estimate what was left. In addition an estimate of the management was done by comparing the amount forest in the youngest age class (0-40 year) on the different continuous tree cover forest site types and mesic sites.

For the landscape scale coarse-grained spatially explicit estimates two squares of 50x100 km were placed on the "cultivation limit" and the "limes Norrlandicus". A topographic wetness index (TWI) (Beven and Kirby, 1979; Rodhe and Seibert, 1999; Zinko, 2004; Güntner et al., 1999; Zinko et al., 2005) was used together with soil type data to estimate the amount of naturally moist and wet sites. In a limited area such as the two 50x100 km squares precipitation and evaporation are assumed to be spatially uniform over a longer time scale. To identify the dry and nutrient poor sites only soil data (sand-gravel and rocks with absent or very thin soil layer) were used. In the northern study area modelled data on precipitation from the Swedish Meteorological Institute and DEM data was used to identify areas with high altitude moist climate. All remaining forest land was classified as being mesic sites. Finally, forest age distributions on the different site types were estimated using k nearest neighbour (kNN) classified satellite image data from the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (Tomppo, 1991; Franco-Lopez et al., 2001; McRoberts et al. 2002, Reese et al. 2003, 2005).

For the stand scale estimates data was extracted from forest management plans from non-industrial private forest owners, private

companies and government owned forests. The forest companies and government made available data from 5 areas containing a sample of stands for each continuous tree cover forest site type and mesic sites. Private estates were identified by combining soil type and property maps at the Swedish Forest Agency and 5 forest management plans from private forest owners were collected for each continuous tree cover forest site type and mesic site types. All forest owners volunteered to make the data available. The collected data sets were diverse both in size and quality but also in terms of variables allowing site type classification, which required a multiple set of approaches to identify the site types having a potential to host continuous tree cover forests. Ground moisture or ground layer vegetation data was used when available. In other cases combinations of ground carriage capacity and site type index (SI), in some cases only the SI was used together with information from the forest owner (Anon., 1985a, 1985b, 1985c; Hägglund and Lundmark, 1987, 1999, 2003). Large parts of the collected data sets were not used since the variables presented were not sufficient to identify the site types.

In addition to wet and dry sites there were sites at high altitudes with moist climate that rarely experienced stand replacing disturbance events. To identify this area the zonation of Ångström (1958), was used together with modelled data on precipitation from SMHI (calculations made for the National atlas of Sweden (Anon, 1999c). An estimate was done that forest 550 m a.s.l. belonged to this climate zone. Since only parts of the northern study area was located at these higher altitudes it was not possible to estimate how much of the total forest area that consists of this forest type. All three of the above mentioned methods were applied in these areas.

The present amount of the cultural type of continuous cover forest was extracted as all cultural grasslands with a crown cover of 10 % (Anon., 2005b) or more from a recent Swedish national inventory for the Västmanland county in the south-central part of Sweden (Anon., 2005a). To get an estimate of the loss of culturally caused wooded grasslands during the 20th century the data was compared with about 100 year old agricultural statistics (Anon., 1898; Anon., 1916).

#### HUMAN SCIENCES

In the two study areas groups of local forest owners, users and actors were identified for the interviews. The idea was to only include people that directly affected forest management. This resulted in a group of 28 interviewees representing forest owners, planners, wood buyers, forest consultants, forest owner association representatives, forest commons representatives, the Swedish church, the Swedish Property Board, municipalities and the Swedish Forest Agency.

Data were collected through qualitative interviews with open-ended questions (Kvale, 1996; Kvale, 2007). An interview manual was used to direct the interview towards issues of interest. The interviewees where given full freedom to express their thoughts and to reason about the questions. The interviews were carried out in the interviewee's office or home and the interviewer tried to be as neutral as possible to not affect the interviewee. The interviews took 30 to 90 minutes. A total of 14 local forestry actors were interviewed in each study area. Actors with similar profiles were chosen in the two study areas. While we do provide statistical analyses of our data, we stress the qualitative aspect to different stakeholder's ability to use and prerequisites for, attitudes towards and knowledge about unevenaged forest management presented in paper II were we made an effort to present the full spectrum of opinions.

All relevant parts of the interviews were transcribed. Everything that the interviewees said that was connected to the research questions was extracted from the transcriptions and concentrated. The concentration of the sentences means that opinions stressed by the interviewees were shortened and re-written as clearly as possible. A number of specific issues that was included in all interviews were chosen to make it easier to compare the opinions of different interviewees. For all interviewees their opinions on each issue were classified on a 3-step scale as follows; 1) agree completely, 2) agree partly, and 3) do not agree.

# Results

#### **CONTINUOUS TREE COVER FORESTS AND THEIR MANAGEMENT**

#### Potential and present amount CTC

The two study areas representing the Swedish boreal forest landscape held about 10 % CTC site types (See Table 1.).

*Table 1. Table showing amount of site types (%) in the two study areas based on data from the national forets inventory* 

	South	Southern			Northern		
	(Berg	(Bergslagen)			(Västerbotten)		
Site type	Dry	Mesi c	Wet	Dry	Mesi c	Wet	
Amount site type (a forest, %)	11 5.5	91	3.8	5.8	90	3.8	

Out of the 10 % CTC site types (See Table 1, dry + wet sites) 88-97 % did not hold old forest according to data from the Swedish National Forest Inventory. There was more old forest remaining in the northern study area (10-12 %) and less in the southern (3-6 %) on these site types.

However, in the northern study area 32 % of the high altitude forest held old forest. The other two study methods confirmed these results and even showed values somewhat lower for remaining old CTC forest (Paper I, Table 2.). *Table 2. Percent of area with no old forest on potential continuous tree cover forest sites with different analyses, scales and data sets in the southern and northern boreal forest study area.* 

		Southe	ern		Northern			
		(Bergs	lagen)		(Västerbotten)			
Site type		Dry	Wet	Cultural	Dry	Wet	Climate	
National Fo Inventory	rest	94	96	-	90	88	68	
Remote sensing		100	100	-	100	100	98	
Agricultural statistics		-	-	81	-	-	-	
Stand scale		98	99	-	84	82	53	

The estimates for the wooded grasslands CTC forest type in the southern study area showed that about 80 % had disappeared during the 20th century (See Table 2.) and that the remaining area was about 0.5 % of the forested area.

#### Future amount CTC

Forests management and harvesting seem to be similar on wet, mesic and dry site types seemed. The percentage young forest (0 - 40 years) on CTC site types compared to mesic sites did not show that CTC sites were managed differently. According to data from the National Forest Inventory there were similar amounts or higher of young forest on dry sites and slightly lower on wet sites.

Table 3. Young forests (0-40 years) (%) on different site types with different analysis methods in the southern and northern boreal forest study areas. For the stand scale analysis the mean values from the different owners/owner categories has been used

	Sout	Southern			Northern			
	(Ber	(Bergslagen)			(Västerbotten)			
	Dry	Mesic	Wet	Dry	Mesic	Wet	Climat e	
National Fo Inventory	rest 50	48	33	47	38	25	22	
Remote sensing	37	41	55	41	45	51	58	
Stand scale	47	49	49	44	38	24	9.4	

#### PERCEPTIONS ABOUT UNEVEN-AGED FOREST MANAGEMENT

#### Ability to use and attitudes about uneven-aged forest management

Most respondents agreed fully or partly with the statement that the technology (89 %) and knowledge (79 %) needed for uneven-aged forestry is available today. Nevertheless, many respondents saw difficulties in uneven-aged forestry since this was a practise of the past. A clear majority (86 %) claimed it is fully or partly impossible to use selection felling systems for economical reasons. This was partly due to selection felling systems not being efficient and partly due to logistical and infrastructure being adapted to the clear cutting management system. The influence from the Swedish forest policy was commented: *"The forest policy is rigid. In forestry it has always been like that...but the new forest policy is better, you are not as much steered today. Earlier you could be forced to fellings. Today you are free to test different methods, so it is better".* 

More than half of the respondents were clear in their opinion that there is a need for a more diverse set of silvicultural systems then what is used in Sweden today. Only 4 out of 28 thought that the clear cutting system was enough. A clear majority also expressed the opinion that different forest actors and stakeholders affect each others' use of forest resources, but they did not see it as a problem. Many thought that the present environmental considerations were good enough to satisfy the intentions of the forest sector policies. They had experienced a clear improvement when it came to mainly environmental considerations. Several respondents expressed the view that alternatives to the clear felling system are needed to meet the needs from other forest stakeholders and in areas where social use of the forest is high. A clear majority (75 %) thought fully or partly that it is possible to even out the differences between natural and managed forests.

Most of the respondents were dissatisfied with the Swedish forest policy. Half of the respondents were very negative and another 30 % were partly negative. Only 21 % expressed that they were positive to the Swedish forest policy. This applied to both production and conservation oriented respondents. Most respondents wanted clearer directives and a stronger enforcement of the forest policy. With the present policy many were not sure if either of the production or environmental goals could be reached. Several of the respondents thought it was hard to understand what an equal importance of production and environmental goals means practically. Several reacted negatively to the term continuous cover forestry. They related the term to different conservation measures that earlier had limited the freedom of forest owners. However, on specific sites or on land important for social purposes they could see the usefulness of continuous cover forestry.

Half of the respondents (46 %) believed they have no responsibility to implement the goals of the Swedish forest policy. They thought it is the responsibility of the politicians to realize the forest policy through clear laws and by reimbursements for economical losses. A large part of the respondents wanted the local forest agencies to charge forest owners that do not manage their forests in a socially, economically and ecologically sustainable way. Many had a strong trust to the local forest agency offices when it came to providing appropriate advice. This was expressed by one respondent: "Even if there is not a law for everything the forest agency should be able to force forest owners to do things. They are competent, that's enough. It can be controversial but if you like to keep the freedom you can not regulate details". Some respondents expressed contempt towards knowledgeable instances without experience, for example one respondent: "It was in the 1960s we started with clear cuts here, and now it is only cleared areas. The people who know, the educated, say we are supposed to do like this".

Almost all respondents agreed that a landscape approach of some kind is important, to plan forest use over larger areas. However, many expressed worries that this landscape approach is not yet operational and they saw a lot of difficulties. Respondents in the northern study area were more hesitant to landscape approaches than respondents in the southern. What seemed to be lacking was a function to facilitate different actor's activities over a larger area. It was often mentioned that neighbours sometimes do co-operate when they harvest forest to increase the profit. Forest companies often had a working co-ordination internally for their own work, but saw large problems if a landscape approach to governance and planning of the use of different silvicultural systems on different site types in cooperation with neighbouring land owners should become a reality.

A clear difference between the southern and northern study areas was that fewer in the northern had other than economic goals with their forestry. In the southern study area a majority expressed the importance of other goals than economy (71 %). In the northern study area fewer expressed that they had other goals than economical (43 %) instead a majority (57 %) claimed that economy was their only goal. This is maybe due to the larger estates in the north and that no one of the private forest owners in the south claimed that they needed income from their forest. In the north people were more dependent on the economic use of their forest.

A few respondents witnessed about the difficulties for uneven-aged forestry to be accepted as a forest management principle in Sweden. One reason for this is probably the clear cutting only direction of Swedish forestry educations here expressed by a Swedish forester: *"Partly this is a question about attitudes. We are educated in the same school everyone, moulded in the same cast. You can imagine what happens if you put a bunch of 20-year-olds in the same school. It is the conventional forest management principles that most, despite specialization have learned."* 

Another respondent working for the forest owner association had experienced the unwillingness to discuss alternatives to the dominant clear cutting system: "When I go to meetings and we will discuss thinning, then they say- you can leave since you do not do this anyway! They almost bully me for this. At the same time I can show 1000s of harvested cubic metres with happy farmers instead. I do not care since I do not have too long time to retirement also. During my last years I can support this, it is harder for the younger guys and girls that are coming with a message like this." According to the same respondent there is a large potential, mainly with private forest owners with multiple goals for their forest, in having forest standing and at the same time get a smaller profit at several occasions. This respondent mentioned the importance of not forcing a forest owner to use a new method but letting the forest owner chose on his own.

#### Knowledge about uneven-aged forest management

Foresters were generally negative to using selection felling system as alternatives for sustained-yield wood production. However, they were positive to them as a complement to satisfy social and to some extent ecological values. About 60 % of the respondents claimed that they know what selection felling systems are. However, when asked about what it is, answers ranged from associations with early industrial high-grading, special management related to social considerations in areas were people live and in cultural wooded grasslands to harvesting in high altitude harsh conditions were regeneration after clear cutting would be hard or impossible, and the Liberich system (Hagner, 2006). Most respondents considered uneven-aged forest management something for forest owners with other interests than purely timber production and economic profit, or in areas where forestry would otherwise not be possible.

Very few respondents associated uneven-aged forest management as a method for intensive production of timber. Very few respondents (11 %) thought that uneven-aged selection systems could favour economy, more thought that it could partly benefit the economy (39 %), and the remaining half of the respondents (50 %) thought this was not the case.

Several respondents associated continuous cover forestry to highgrading and unsustainable selective harvesting that was common before the 1950s. An example was the following statement: "I do not know too much about continuous cover forestry, but I know how many "5:3" forests<sup>1</sup> that were restored in the 1970s, a result from high-grading in low productive and sparse areas. This is the risk you get if you use that kind of harvesting". One respondent expressed his opinion about the Liberich selection system approach (Hagner, 2006): "I am taking a course were we have discussed Mats Hagners Liberich method, and I do not believe anything of this. This is how to create degraded forests (Swedish: rest- och trasskogar) and 5:3 forests. They were present on my fathers land. I removed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 5:3 is the number of the law paragraph that handled restoration of pre-1950s exploited forests in Sweden. It is often used to name the poor condition of forest stands that remained after the exploitation phase.

them the first years and planted a new forest. They had been selectively harvested, they were allowed to grow as they liked. The best method is clear cutting, take away what is harvested and then you should scarify and plant". By contrast, another respondent said: "I think you should use Liberich. Clear cutting is on its way out both because of environmental concerns and cultural remains. It is said that Liberich works only if your forest is layered, but it becomes layered if you optimize the present value. You can harvest large dimension timber early, and you create quality for the future."

Thus, continuous cover forestry associated to many different things and the there was confusion about the terminology. The respondents that remembered how things were done before the clear cutting era had a hard time to place selection felling systems in a modern context "Selection felling is a thing of the past with the technology you had, you never thought of large clear cuts".

Most respondents claimed that that uneven-aged forest management would support ecological values in the forest to some degree but had a hard time to specify how.

Almost all (93 %) respondents agreed, fully or partly that social values would be favoured by uneven-aged forest management in some areas. In the southern study area this was fully supported by a clear majority (86 %), compared to only a few (14 %) in the northern. Many respondents thought of social values as more important than ecological ones. It was easier for them to relate to other peoples' use of the forest compared to conservation. The connection between multiple values in the forest and the number of jobs was brought up by many respondents. A majority believed that job opportunities are threatened by continuous cover forestry. A few saw an unused opportunity in hunting and nature tourism.

# Discussion

#### THE PRESENT SITUATION IN SWEDEN

Uneven-aged forest management continues to be surrounded by strong feelings in Sweden. The situation has its roots long back in time when selection felling systems were blamed for the early unsustainable exploitation of the Swedish forest resource as described earlier in this thesis. In contrast, the clear cutting system is associated with modern and profitable sustained yield forestry.

A recent evaluation of Swedish forestry showed that 96 % of all final fellings are done by the clear cutting system with or without seed trees. According to the polytax inventories 1999 and 2000 69 % of the harvested areas are left with no seed trees, 27 % are left with seed trees and on the remaining areas (4 %) other harvesting methods are used, like shelterwood, and different selection systems (Anon., 2002b, Anon., 2002d). Paper I) showed that alternatives to the clear cutting system were not used on specific site types and adapted to mimic natural disturbances. Policy development, evaluations of the Swedish forest policy and the principles of sustainable forest management implicate that uneven-aged management should be used as a complement to even-aged management on suitable site types and in urban forests (Anon., 1993; Anon., 2002b; MCPFE, 1998; 2003; Anon. 2002b; Mikaelsson et al., 2006).

The final report of the Swedish Forest Agency's 3-year long project named *Continuous forests and continuous cover forestry* it is concluded that continuous cover forestry is a complement to the clear cutting system and should be used in suitable areas. The report provides an estimate that 5-10 % of the productive Swedish forest area is suitable for uneven-aged forest management (Cedergren, 2008). In addition to forests that could be managed with uneven-aged forest management for ecological reasons there are also forest where uneven-aged forest management could be considered to satisfy social dimensions of sustainable forest management. The Swedish Forest Agency has estimated the amount of urban forests to 300 000 hectares, and aims for about half of this to be considered for management with selection felling systems (Anon., 2005c; 2007). This equals about 0.6 % of the total forest area in Sweden.

This thesis shows that in the study areas about 10 % of forest sites are of continuous tree cover type, i.e. hosting gap-phase and cohort dynamics under naturally dynamic conditions. These are the 4 % wettest and the 6 % driest forest sites types (see Figure 2). These

numbers were higher in the naturally dynamic boreal forest landscape. Numbers ranging from about 30-50 % are mentioned in the literature (Rülcker et al., 1994; Pennanen, 2002). Indeed, de Jong (2002) noted an increase of the amount mesic sites relative to either extreme. Reasons for reduced areas of CTC site types include clearing of rich and moist site types for agricultural purposes, forest drainage and fire control on dry and poor site types. In addition to this atmospheric deposition of nitrogen and fertilisation make poor site types richer (Högberg and Binkley, 1996; Sohlberg et al., 2004). The expected increase in productivity is confirmed by Elfving and Tegnhammar (1996). For the whole boreal zone (including alpinenorthern, mid and southern boreal forests) according to data from the NFI about 9% (4 % wet and 5 % dry) of the forest sites are of continuous tree cover types (NFI on the internet, July 27, 2008). Continuous tree cover forests are or have until very recently been managed with the same methods as other forest types. In addition to the about 9 % continuous tree cover site types there are also high altitude moist climate mountain forest in the North and culturally generated wooded grasslands in the South. Today the diversity of Swedish forest ecosystems and cultural woodlands are not met by a corresponding diversity of forest and woodland management systems (Paper I). Knowledge about efficient selection felling systems is limited due to the long-term dominance of the clear cutting system, even if there is knowledge and technology for the extraction of trees from forest stands. This applies to both the social and ecological dimensions of forest and woodland landscape management.

One approach to define quantitative targets for how much continuous tree cover forests are needed to satisfy sustainable forest management policies a gap analysis should be performed (Scott et al., 1993; Angelstam et al., 2003). Put simply, this should include the following steps. 1) Estimate the amount continuous tree cover sites in the pre-industrial landscape, 2) use performance targets derived from the forest and nature conservation policies to be able to estimate the amounts needed for a particular level of ambition ecological or social sustainability, 3) identify present amounts of CTC forest type (Paper I) and estimate the gap.

According to the interviewees more than half of the continuous tree cover forest sites are not used for forestry due to too poor productivity, inaccessibility and because parts of these areas are under formal protection. This suggests that 4-5 % of the forest land remains as candidates for selection felling systems. Out of this a part is potentially under non-formal protection. Thus a rough estimate is that the aim could be to manage about half of the remaining 3-4 % units using uneven-aged forest management (see Figure 2.). In addition to this there might be areas with a need for uneven-aged forest management to protect humans or economical interests i.e. forests with protective functions.



Figure 2. The pie chart to the left shows a rough division into site types in the two study areas of about 5 million hectares in Sweden's southern and northern boreal forest. According to data from the Swedish National Forest Inventory the present forest landscape include 5.6 % dry and 3.8 % wet sites would have held continuous tree cover forests in a naturally dynamic landscape. The histogram to the right is an effort to translate this information to a graph for the whole country that could be used for discussions about the relative amount of different silvicultural systems needed to satisfy policies advocating alternative management systems to clear cutting. This graph shows forest cover, productive forest, a potential level for continuous cover forestry of ecological reasons (2 %), and for social reasons (0.6 %) in Sweden. Forest cover is the amount of forest in Sweden using international definitions based on crown cover while productive forest is the amount of forest in Sweden using a national definition based on land use and yearly increment. Areas that could potentially be considered for uneven-aged forest management are calculated as percentages of productive forest land.

A major obstacle for the implementation of sustainable forest management policies by an increased diversity of forest management approaches is the distrust between the environmental, social and the industrial forestry sectors, actors and stakeholders. This results in conflicts instead of co-operation. One example is the conflict about how negative continuous cover forestry would be to the Swedish economy, assuming uneven-aged forestry would be used everywhere and thus replace the clear cutting forest management system (Karlsson and Lönnstedt, 2006a;b). There are both conservationists and foresters debating that uneven-aged forestry or clear cutting management systems are better and should be adapted on all forest land. This debate is unrealistic since there are no forest policies that advocate the use of selection felling systems on all forest land. Instead uneven-aged forestry is proposed as a complement to clear cutting forest management on specific and limited areas to satisfy ecological and social dimensions of sustainable forest management.

# Some reflections on the methods used and the validity of the results

Different methods provide different perspectives and have different limitations. It is important to discuss this to make the reader understand the qualities and limitations of the different estimates and analyses regarding the amount of different site types. Using the sample plot method to estimate the natural potential for the amount of different forest disturbance regimes, the area of forest land in today's landscapes was compared on wet, dry and mesic sites, and on sites with humid climate. The data from the National Forest Inventory is of good quality and the method is straightforward. A limitation might be the location of the study areas, i.e. could the results tell anything about the whole boreal zone in Sweden in general? A comparison of the estimates of the amount CTC on dry (i.e. cohort dynamics) and wet sites (i.e. gap phase dynamics) showed that the results were similar (NFI on the internet, 27 July, 2008). The comparison showed that the estimates in paper I are slightly higher then for the entire boreal zone. Paper I estimated dry sites to 5.5 % (Southern study area) and 5.8 % (Northern study area), and wet sites to 3.8 % in both areas (data from 1996-2002). The average according for the entire boreal zone was 4.7% dry sites and 4.2 % wet sites, respectively (data from NFI 1997-2001). Thus, in spite of the study areas location in two transition zones, with the aim to cover large parts of different gradients in the boreal forest but then also includes some extreme conditions, the results in Paper I were indeed representative for the entire boreal region.

The other methods had other potential limitations. For example, the landscape-scale coarse-grained spatially explicit method estimated the amount of potentially old forest and young forest on CTC and mesic sites in a naturally dynamic landscape. This means that there was no consideration of anthropogenic alterations affecting the site type distribution, such as drainage and fire control, factors that tend to increase the amount of mesic sites relative to either extreme (de Jong, 2002). This method did not give an estimate of the amount of the different site types in the landscape.

For the stand-scale estimate several different indicators were used to identify CTC sites. This was a result of the variability in the collected data sets. Only some forest owners provided data on site moisture, others had instead data on ground vegetation, ground carriage capacity and site index, all of which nevertheless linked to site type. There were also differences in when and how the forest management data had been updated and the quality of the collected data. To estimate what stands that were of CTC type a diverse set of methods was used together with additional information from the landowners. Despite careful specifications of what kind of data and for how large areas that was needed for the study the collected data sets were diverse and a large part was not used. The main problem was to identify CTC stands and when this was not possible the data set was not used. This resulted in a smaller than expected data set with samples of different size and quality. The estimates were nevertheless used since it is an interesting approach with good potential if larger sets of homogenous data could be collected.

The cultural landscape estimates were done by comparing old agricultural statistics and a recent inventory of wooded meadows and pastures for the County of Västmanland in the Southern study area. This estimate was included because we liked to emphasize the importance of a landscape perspective including all kinds of wooded areas, i.e. forests, wooded grasslands and other types of tree covered areas that are not counted as forests, but nevertheless critically important for both ecological and social dimensions of sustainable forest management.

For the qualitative part of this thesis the qualitative results should be emphasized, i.e. what the interviewees said. A qualitative interview study does not provide (usually) enough data for statistical calculations. Still some statistical calculations were provided to assist the understanding of the collected data. Efforts were made to select groups of interviewees with similar profiles in the two study areas. When possible forest owners that had provided forest management data to the study resulting in paper I were selected.

#### GAPS RELATED TO CONTINUOUS COVER FORESTRY

This thesis has identified several gaps related to the application of continuous cover forest management systems. The first I call the "terms and definitions" gap. This is a gap that has developed and

been maintained over long time. It has its roots in the early exploitation of Swedish forests and the development of well-working sustained-yield forest management using the clear cutting forest management system. This knowledge gap results in mixing up of terminology where selection felling systems are blamed for the early exploitation of Swedish forests.

The second gap is related to improper definitions of what a continuous tree cover forest is and thus on what site type's unevenaged forest management could be used for ecological and reasons. This thesis and the articles are an effort to bridge these gaps.

The third gap is related to knowledge to perform continuous cover forestry operations. There seem to be knowledge to use continuous cover forestry as a type of environmental or social consideration on sites with other main aims than to earn money. However, there seem to be very little knowledge on how to use continuous cover forestry as a way to produce better quality timber, to meet other management goals and to produce timber industrially. This is outside the scope of this thesis but still an important gap to fill.

The fourth gap I have identified is the policy implementation gap. The Swedish policies advocating sustainable forest management clearly point at the need for alternatives to the clear cutting management system to meet the requirements of the policy. Still there is a massive dominance of the clear cutting management system and no correlation between alternatives to clear cutting and CTC forest site types (Paper I). Studies like this and special efforts like the Swedish Forest Agency's *Continuous forests and continuous cover forestry project* (Cedergen, 2008) are needed for this. Special applied interdisciplinary (=transdisciplinary) (e.g., Tress et al., 2003) projects are, however, needed to deal with the issues of the forest policy and its implementation together with local to national level forest actors and stakeholders to find sustainable solutions towards supporting implementing the vision of the Swedish forest policy and sustainable forest management.

The fifth gap is related to logistics and the streamlining of forestry towards the clear cutting forest management system only. This result in a situation where forest owners that produce higher quality timber in combination with also other management goals are not able to sell their product as a high quality product.

#### TOWARDS SUSTAINABLE FOREST MANAGEMENT AND FUTURE RESEARCH

Previously forestry was easier. To produce economic profit and to secure a sustained yield of timber for the industry was good enough. Today forestry is more complex and includes an increased number of actors that desire increased amounts of goods, services and products from the forests (e.g., Innes and Hoen, 2005). Forestry is important to the Swedish economy but its contribution to the GDP is estimated at 3-4 % depending on the source (Johansson Gran and Resvik, 2006; Anon., 2007a). The long-term trend is that the GDP contribution is decreasing. Other sectors depend on a sustainable management of the entire forest landscape. Foresters have to find sustainable solutions to ecological issues and to satisfy socio-economical demands to safeguard their own business long term (Innes and Hoen, 2005).

To implement international and Swedish policy visions of sustainable forest management and to meet new demands from other sectors of society there is a need for innovative interaction and co-operation among stakeholders at multiple levels. A promising approach to deal with the situation is to participate in and to develop multi-level and multi-actor collaborative communicative governance and arrangements such as Model Forest and Adaptive Management Areas (Axelsson and Angelstam, 2006; Shindler at al. 2003). To find sustainable solutions the innovative transdisciplinary knowledge production, where researchers, practitioners and stakeholders together define the problems and produce the knowledge needed to address these problems is one option (Tress et al. 2003, Axelsson and Angelstam, 2006; Elbakidze et al., 2007). In Sweden today there are a few more or less developed local initiatives representing different regions from south to north. Using them as landscape laboratories would support a development towards a more sustainable use of the forest resource in line with the forest policy and the principles of sustainable forest management.

The work with this thesis and earlier experiences has taught me that natural science only is not enough to provide knowledge needed to implement sustainable forest management and sustainable development. There is in addition a need to understand the interface between social and ecological systems and peoples abilities to understand policies, attitudes and knowledge about sustainability issues to be able to implement policies on the ground. I see a huge need to evaluate different approaches to implement sustainability policies i.e. to learn from both success and failure stories. My own continued research will be focused on different approaches to find and implement sustainable solutions locally and regionally. I will concentrate on participatory approaches like the Model Forest, Biosphere Reserve and other similar concepts. If possible I would also like to explore some independent initiatives and approaches from other then the forestry sector since my strong belief is that there is a lot of existing knowledge locally that is just waiting to be found evaluated and disseminated. I believe strongly in the sustainable forest management concept but to realise this requires new ways to and develop frameworks for co-operation and build trust communication (Axelsson et al., submitted ms; Elbakidze et al., 2007). There is a lot of talk about the need for interdisciplinary research but only few good examples. Scholars also claim that academic reward systems do not recognize interdisciplinary research. I think the time has come to explore the opportunities of inter- and transdisciplinary research and to support the integration of disciplinary research i.e. to synthesize applied knowledge from all the already developed pieces in the puzzle.

# Conclusion

Uneven-aged forestry is surrounded by strong feelings in Sweden. The discussion that started more than 100 years ago still continues even if there seem to be an agreement among most forestry actors that continuous cover forestry is a well needed complement to the clear cutting system to be used on specific sites and limited areas. Continuous tree cover forests site types are managed with the same silvicultural system as mesic sites i.e. there are no or few efforts to mimic natural disturbance regimes. Culturally caused wooded grasslands are decreasing due to no or little present use even if there are efforts to restore and increase areas. For forests with moist climate at high altitudes large parts are protected. Proper information, definitions, terminology and applied knowledge on where what forest management principle would fit will prevent unnecessary conflicts. Today policies at multiple levels advocate sustainable forest management and thus the need to satisfy an increasing number of new demands on the goods, services and values provided by forest landscapes. The only way to address this new situation is to develop co-operative and participatory approaches to forest management. With a joint effort long term sustainable solutions for forest management, local communities and other business sectors can be found.

# References

- Angelstam, P. (1998). Maintaining and restoring biodiversity by developing natural disturbance regimes in European boreal forest. Journal of Vegetation Science, 9 (4), 593-602.
- Angelstam, P. (2003). Reconciling the linkages of land management with natural disturbance regimes to maintain forest biodiversity in Europe. In: Bissonette, J.A. & Storch, In: (Eds.). Landscape ecology and resource management: linking theory with practice. Island Press, Covelo CA and Washington, D.C., pp. 193-226.
- Angelstam, P., Anufriev, V., Balciauskas, L., Blagovidov, A., Borgegård, S.-O., Hodge, S., et al. (1997). Biodiversity and sustainable forestry in European forests - how west and east can learn from each other. Wildlife Society Bulletin, 25 (1), 38-48.
- Angelstam, P., Mikusinski, G., Rönnbäck, B.-I., Östman, A., Lazdinis, M., Roberge, J.-M., Wolter Arnberg & Jan Olsson (2003). Twodimensional gap analysis: a tool for efficient conservation planning and biodiversity policy implementation. Ambio, 32 (8), 527-534.
- Angelstam, P. & Kuuluvainen, T. (2004). Boreal forest disturbance regimes, successional dynamics and landscape structures – a European perspective. Ecol. Bull., 51, 117-136.
- Angelstam, P., Mikusinski, G. & Fridman, J. (2004). Natural forest remnants and transport infrastructure – does history matter for biodiversity conservation planning? Ecol. Bull., 51, 149-162.
- Ångström, A. (1958). Sveriges klimat [Sweden's climate]. Generalstabens litografiska anstalt, Stockholm. 155 pp. (In Swedish.)
- Anon. (1898). Beskrifningar till kartorna öfver Vermlands län upprättade i Rikets Ekonomiska Karteverk åren 1887-97. Kungliga boktryckeriet, Stockholm.
- Anon. (1916). Beskrifningar till konceptkartorna öfver Västmanlands län upprättade i Rikets almänna kartverk åren 1909-1914. Kungliga boktryckeriet, Stockholm.

 Anon. (1932). Uppskattning av Sveriges skogstillgångar verkställd åren 1923-1929: redogörelse avgiven av Riksskogstaxeringsnämnden [Estimate of Sweden's forest resources done the years 1923-1929: report from the national forest inventory committe]. Statens offentliga utredningar Jordbruksdepartementet, Stockholm.

- Anon. (1974). Kalhyggen. Jordbruksdepartementet Ds Jo 1974:2. Stockholm. 250 pp.
- Anon. (1985a). Fälthäfte i bonitering Örebro och Västmanlands län, National board of forestry, Jönköping. 36 pp.
- Anon. (1985b). Fälthäfte i bonitering Kopparbergs och Gävleborgs län, National board of forestry, Jönköping. 42 pp.
- Anon. (1985c). Fälthäfte i bonitering Västerbottens län, National board of forestry, Jönköping. 38 pp.

Anon. (1993). En ny skogspolitik. Jordbruksutskottets betänkande 1992/93:JOU15. The riksdag of Sweden, Stockholm. 32 pp.

Anon. (1999a). State of the world's forests (State of food and agriculture). Food and agriculture organization of the United Nations, Rome. 154 pp.

- Anon. (1999b). Silvicultural Terms in Canada (Second Edition, Internet). Canadian Forest Service. Ottawa. 74 pp.
- Anon. (1999c). National atlas of Sweden PC-atlas. National Land Survey of Sweden, Gävle.
- Anon. (2000) European Landscape Convention. European Treaty Series - No. 176, Council of Europe, Florence. 9 pp.
- Anon. (2001). Skogspolitiken idag– en beskrivning av den politik och övriga faktorer som påverkar skogen och skogsbruket (Skogsstyrelsen Rapport 8B 2001). National board of forestry, Jönköping. 111 pp.
- Anon. (2002a). En samlad naturvårdspolitik (Regeringens skrivelse 2001/02:173). The Swedish government, Stockholm. 145 pp.
- Anon. (2002b). Skogsvårdsorganisationens utvärdering av skogspolitikens effekter SUS 2001 (Meddelande I – 2002). National board of forestry, Jönköping. 283 pp.
- Anon. (2002c). Instruktion för fältarbetet vid riksskogstaxeringen. Swedish university of agricultural sciences, Umeå.

Anon. (2002d). R-Polytax (JO0310). Statistics Sweden, Stockholm.

- Anon. (2004). Kontinuitetsskogar en förstudie (Meddelande 1 2004). National board of forestry, Jönköping. 60 pp.
- Anon. (2005a). Ängs- och betesmarksinventeringen 2002-2004 (Jordbruksverkets Rapport 2005:1). Swedish board of agriculture, Jönköping. 46 pp.
- Anon. (2005b). Global forest resources assessment update 2005 -Terms and definitions. Forestry Department, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome. 36 pp.
- Anon., (2005c). Skogliga sektorsmål -förutsättningar och bakgrundsmaterial. Swedish forest agency, report 11, 2005. 136 pp.
- Anon., (2007a). Förslag till målpunkt för skogens sociala värden. Arbetsgruppens första förslag. Swedish forest agency, Jönköping. 5 pp.
- Anon. (2007b). Swedish statistical yearbook of forestry 2007. Swedish Forest Agency, Jönköping. 345 pp.
- Appelstrand, M. (2007). Miljömålet i skogsbruket styrning och frivillighet [The environmental objective in forestry – regulation and voluntary measures] (PhD dissertation). Lund studies in sociology of law, Lund University. 323 pp.
- Attiwill, P.M. (1994). The disturbance dynamics of forest ecosystems: the ecological basis for conservative management. Forest Ecology and Management 63, 247–300.
- Axelsson, R. & Angelstam, P. (2006). Biosphere Reserve and Model Forest: a study of two concepts for integrated natural resource management. In: Science for Sustainable Development - Starting Points and Critical Reflections, Proceedings from the 1st VHU Conference on Science for Sustainable Development, Västerås, Sweden 12-14 April, 2005. pp. 31-39.
- Axelsson, R., Angelstam, P. & Elbakidze, M. (submitted ms). Landscape approaches to sustainability (submitted to proceedings from the 2nd VHU conference).
- Bergeron, Y., Engelmark, O., Harvey, B., Morin, H. & Sirois, L. (1998). Key issues in disturbance dynamics in boreal forests. Journal of Vegetation Science. 9 (4), 464-468.

- Bergeron, Y., Leduc, A., Harvey, B. D. & Gauthier, S. (2002). Natural fire regime: a guide for sustainable management of the Canadian boreal forest. Silva Fenn., 36, 81-95.
- Beven, K. J. & Kirkby, M. J. (1979). A physically based variable contributing area model of basin hydrology. Hydrol. Sci. Bull., 24, 43-69.
- Binkley, D., & Högberg, P., (1997). Does atmospheric deposition of nitrogen threaten Swedish forests? Forest Ecology and Management, 92, 119-152.
- Bolshakov, N. M. (2000). The recreational development of forests. Ministry of Education of the Russian Federation, Syktyvkar Forest Institute of St. Petersburg State Forest Technical Academy. Syktyvkar.
- Borgegård, L.-E. (1973). Tjärhanteringen i Västerbottens län under 1800-talets senare hälft. Kungliga Skytteanska samfundets samlingar, 12. 279 pp.
- Boström, M. (2002). Skogen märks Hur svensk skogscertifiering kom till och dess konsekvenser (report 2002:3). Stockholm centre for organizational research, Stockholm. 66 pp.
- Brandt Commission, (1980). North–South: A programme for survival. The Report of the independent commission on international development issues under the chairmanship of Willy Brandt, Pan Books, London. 304 pp.
- Burton, P.J, Messier, C., Smith, D.W. & Adamowicz, W.L. (2003). Towards Sustainable Management of the Boreal Forest. NRC research press, Ottawa. pp. 1039.
- Campbell, B.M. & Sayer J.A. (2003). Integrated natural resource management. Linking productivity, the environment and development. CABI publishing, Wallingford. 334 pp.
- Carson, R. (1962). Silent Spring. Houghton Mifflin, Boston. 304 pp.
- Cedergren, J. (2008). Kontinuitetsskogar och hyggesfritt skogsbruk. Message 1:2008, Swedish forest agency, Jönköping. 91 pp.
- Clements, F.E. (1936). Nature and Structure of the Climax. The Journal of Ecology, 24 (1), 252-284.

- Costanza, R., d'Arge, R. de Groot, R., Farber, S., Grasso, M., Hannon, B., Limburg, K., Naeem, S., O'Neill, R.V., Paruelo, J., Raskin, R.G., Sutton, P. and van den Belt, M. (1997). The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Ecological Economics, 25 (1), 3-15.
- Dale, V.H., Joyce, L.A., McNulty, S., Neilson, R.P., Ayres, M.P., Flannigan, M.D. et al. (2001). Climate change and forest disturbances. BioScience, 51 (9), 723-734.
- Daly, G.C. (1997). Nature;s services: societal dependence on natural ecosystems. Island Press, Washington, DC. 392 pp.
- Ek, I. (1995). Skinnskattebergs revir. Hultebo Tryckeri AB, Skinnskatteberg. 258 pp.
- Ekelund, H. & Hamilton, G. (2001). Skogspolitisk historia (Skogsstyrelsen Rapport 8A 2001). National board of forestry, Jönköping. 264 pp.
- Elbakidze, M., Angelstam, P., & Axelsson, R. (2007). Sustainable forest management as an approach to regional development in the Russian Federation: State and trends in Kovdozersky Model Forest in the Barents region. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research, 22, 568-581.
- Eriksson, G. (1955). Bruksdöden i Bergslagen efter år 1850. Jernkontorets Bergshistoriska Skriftserie 15. 347 pp.
- Eliasson, P. (2002). Skog, makt och människor: en miljöhistoria om svensk skog 1800-1875 (PhD Dissertation). Lund University, Lund. 455 pp.
- Elfving, B. & Tegnhammar, L. (1996). Trends of tree growth in Swedish forests 1953-1992: an analysis based on sample trees from the National Forest Inventory. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research, 1996; 11, 26-37.
- Enander, K.G. (2003). Skogssbrukssätt och skogspolitik 1950-2000. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of forest ecology and management, report 54, 2003, Umeå. 200 pp.
- Enander, K.G. (2004). Ekologi och skogsanvändning under Linnés århundrade. Skogshistoriska sällskapets årsskrift 2004, 6-30.

- Enander, K.G. (2005). Ekologi, naturskydd och skogsbruk under Darwins århundrade. Skogshistoriska sällskapets Årsskrift 2005, 5-53.
- Enander, K.G. (2007). Skogsbruk på samhällets villkor skogsskötsel och politik under 150 år. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of forest ecology and management, report 1, 2007, Umeå. 324 pp.
- Engelmark, O. (1999). Boreal forest disturbances. In: Walker, L.R., (Ed.). Ecosystems of disturbed ground. Ecosystems of the world 16. Elsevier, Amsterdam. pp. 161–186.
- Ehrlich, P.R. (1968). The Population Bomb. Buccaneer books, New York. 201 pp.
- Falinski, J.B. (1986). Vegetation dynamics in temperate lowland primeval forest. Ecological studies in Bialowieza Forest. W. Junk. Dordrecht. 537 pp.
- FAO/ITTO (Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations/International Tropical Timber Organization )(2004).Expert Consultation on Criteria and Indicators for Sustainable Forest Management. FAO, Rome.
- Forsell, H. & Axelsson, B. (1990). Sambruksformer för markanvändningsintressen inom Vilhelmina kommun (Inventering Handlingsprogram). Regional board of forestry mellannorrland, Lantbruksnämnden, Västerbotten county, Vilhelmina municipality. 105 pp.
- Franco-Lopez, H., Ek, A. R. & Bauer, M. E. (2001). Estimation and mapping of forest stand density, volume, and cover type using the k-nearest neighbor method. Remote Sensing of Environment, 77 (3), 251-274.
- Fransson, S. (1965). The borderland. Acta Phytogeographica Suecica, 50, 167-175.
- Fries, C., Johansson, O., Pettersson, B. & Simonsson, P. (1997). Silvicultural models to maintain and restore natural stand structures in Swedish boreal forests. For. Ecol. Manage., 94, 89-103.
- Gillberg, B. (1973). Mordet på framtiden. Wahlström & Widstrand, Stockholm. 210 pp.

Güntner, A., Uhlenbrook, S., Seibert, J. & Leibundgut, C. (1999). Multi-criterial validation of TOPMODEL in a mountainous catchment. Hydrological Processes, 13 (11), 1603-1620.

Hagner, M. (2006). Naturkultur - Ekonomiskt skogsbruk kännetecknat av befriande gallring och berikande plantering. Mats Hagners Bokförlag, Umeå, Sweden. 124 pp.

Hagner, S. (2005). Skog i förändring – vägen mot ett rationellt och hållbart skogsbruk i Norrland ca 1940-1990. Kungliga skogs och lantbruksakademien meddelanden nr 34, Kungliga skogs och lantbruksakademien, Stockholm. 398 pp.

Hägglund, B. & Lundmark, J.-E. (1987). Handledning i bonitering med Skogshögskolans boniteringssystem (Del 1 Definitioner och anvisningar). National board of forestry, Jönköping. 53 pp.

Hägglund, B. & Lundmark, J.-E. (1999). Handledning i bonitering med skogshögskolans boniteringssystem (Del 3 Markvegetationstyper – Skogsmarksflora). National board of forestry, Jönköping. 128 pp.

- Hägglund, B. & Lundmark, J-E. (2003). Handledning i bonitering med Skogshögskolans boniteringssystem (Del 2 Diagram och tabeller). National board of forestry, Jönköping. 70 pp.
- Holmberg, L-E. (2005). Skogshistoria år från år 1177-2005 -Skogspolitiska beslut och andra viktiga händelser i omvärlden som påverkat Skogsvårdsorganisationens arbete (Skogsvårdsstyrelsen Rapport 5 2005). National board of forestry, Jönköping. 64 pp.

Hunter, M.L. (1999). Maintaining biodiversity in forest ecosystems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. pp. 498-596.

- Ihse, M. (1995). Swedish agricultural landscapes Patterns and changes during the last 50 years, studied by aerial photos. Landscape and Urban Planning, 31, 21-37.
- Innes, J.L. & Hoen, H.F. (2005). The changing context of forestry. In: J.L. Innes, G.M. Hickey and H.F. Hoen, Editors, *Forestry and Environmental Change: Socioeconomic and Political Dimensions*, CABI Publishing, pp. 1–14.

IUCN/UNEP/WWF (1980). The World Conservation Strategy: Living Resource Conservation for Sustainable Development. International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) and World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF), Gland, Switzerland. 59 pp.

Johansson Gran, G. & Resvik, B. (2006). Råvaruindustrin i Sverige -Om råvaruindustrins betydelse och framtidsutsikter. Confederation of Swedish enterprise, Stockholm. 21 pp.

- de Jong, J. (2002). Changes in populations of forest species in relation to landscape development (CBM Rep. 7). Swedish Biodiversity Centre, Uppsala. 97 pp. (In Swedish with English summary.)
- Kardell, L. (2004). Från baggböleri till naturvård (Svenskarna och skogen). Skogsstyrelsens förlag, Jönköping. 303 pp.
- Karjalainen, T., Pussinen, A., Liski, J., Nabuurs, G.-J., Erhard, M., Eggers, T., Sonntag, M. & Mohren G.M.J. (2002). An approach towards an estimate of the impact of forest management and climate change on the European forest sector carbon budget: Germany as a case study. Forest Ecology and Management, 162 (2002), 87–103.
- Karlsson, B. & Lönnstedt, L. (2006a). Strategiska skogsbruksval -Analys av två alternativ till trakthyggesbruk med gran: Kontinuitetsskogsbruk med gran, självföryngrad björk och möjligheter till produktionshöjande åtgärder [Strategic silvicultural choices - An analysis of two alternatives to clear felling systems with spruce: Continuous cover forestry with spruce, naturally regenerated birch and possibilities for production increasing measures] (Working Rep. No. 609). Skogforsk, Uppsala. 148 pp. (In Swedish with English summary.)
- Karlsson, B. & Lönnstedt, L. (2006b). Strategiska skogsbruksval -Konsekvenser av alternativ till trakthyggesbruk med gran [Strategic silvicultural choices -Consequences of alternatives to clear felling systems] (Result 1 2006). Skogforsk, Uppsala. 4 pp. (In Swedish with English summary.)
- Kimmins, J. P. (1991). The future of forested landscapes in Canada. Forestry Chronicle, 67, 14-18.

- Kirby, K.J. & Watkins, C. (Eds.) (1998). The ecological history of European forests. CAB International, Wallingford, UK. 384 pp.
- Kjellström, T., Håkansta, C., & Hogstedt, C. (2005). Folkhälsa, hållbar utveckling och globalisering (2005:3). Swedish national institute of public health, Östersund. 288 pp. (In Swedish.)
- Koch, N.E. & Kennedy, J.J. (1991). Multiple-use Forestry for Social Values. Ambio nr. 20, 330-333.
- Konijnendijk, C. C. (2003). A decade of urban forestry in Europe. Forest Policy and Economics, 5, 173–186.
- Korpilahti, E. & Kuuluvainen, T. (Eds.) (2002). Disturbance dynamics in boreal forests: defining the ecological basis of restoration and management of biodiversity. Silva Fennica, 36 (1), 447 pp.
- Krankina, O.N., Dixon, R.K., Kirilenko, A.P. & Kobak, K.I. (1997). Global climate change adaptation: examples from Russian boreal forests. Climatic Change 36, 197–216, 1997.
- Kraxner, F., Nilsson, S., & Obersteiner, M. (2002). Negative emissions from BioEnergy use, carbon capture and sequestration (BECS) the case of biomass production by sustainable forest management from semi-natural temperate forests, 24 (4-5), 285-296.
- Kuuluvainen, T. (1994). Gap disturbance, ground microtopography, and the regeneration dynamics of boreal coniferous forests in Finland: a review. Annales Zoologici Fennici, 31, 35-51.
- Kuuluvainen, T. (2002a). Disturbance Dynamics in Boreal Forests: Defi ning the Ecological Basis of Restoration and Management of Biodiversity. Silva Fennica, 36 (1), 5-11.
- Kuuluvainen, T. (2002b). Natural variability of forests as a reference for restoring and managing biological diversity in boreal Fennoscandia. Silva Fennica, 36 (1), 97-125.
- Kuuluvainen, T., Syrjänen, K. & Kalliola, R. (1998). Structure of a pristine Picea abies forest in north-eastern Europe. Journal of Vegetation Science, 9, 563-574.
- Kvale, S. (1996). InterViews: An Introduction to Qualitative Research Interviewing. Sage publications, Thousand Oaks. 344 pp.
- Kvale, S., (2007). Doing interviews. Sage publications, London. pp. 160.

Linder, M. (2000). Developing adaptive forest management strategies to cope with climate change.Tree Physiol. 20(5-6), 299-307.

- Lindhagen, A., (1996). Forest Recreation in Sweden. Four Case Studies Using Quantitative and Qualitative Methods (PhD dissertation). Inst. F. skoglig landskapsvård, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala. 24 pp.
- Lundmark, J.-L. (1986) Skogsmarkens ekologi: ståndortsanpassat skogsbruk (Del 1) [The ecology of forest land: site type adapted forest management (Part 1)]. Publication service of the Swedish Forest Agency, Jönköping. 158 pp.
- Lundmark, L. (2005, October). Odlingsgränsen och avvittringen [The Cultivation limit and land detachment]. Unpublished working paper, Swedish Border Establishing Commission. 16 pp. (In Swedish.)
- Lundqvist, L., Chrimes, D., Elfving, B., Mörling, T. & Valinger, E. (2007). Stand development after different thinnings in two uneven-aged Picea abies forests in Sweden. Forest Ecology and Management, 238, 141-146.
- Makundi, W.R. (1997). Global climate change mitigation and sustainable forest management – the challenge of monitoring and verification. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change, 2, 133-155.
- Matthews, J.D. (1989). Silvicultural systems. Oxford University Press, Oxford. 304 pp.
- Meadows, D.H., Meadows, D.L. Randers, J., & Behrens III, W.W. (1972). The Limits to Growth, Club of Rome/MIT Press, Cambridge. 208 pp.
- MCPFE, (1993). General declaration of the Second Ministerial Conference on the Protection of Forests in Europe, 16-17 June 1993, Helsinki/Finland. 4 pp.
- MCPFE, (1998). Resolution L1: People, Forests and Forestry Enhancement of Socio-Economic Aspects of Sustainable Forest Management. Third Ministerial Conference on the Protection of Forests in Europe, 2-4 June 1998, Lisbon, Portugal. 4 pp.

- MCPFE, (2003). Resolution 3: Preserving and enhancing the social and cultural dimensions of sustainable forest management in Europe. Fourth ministerial conference on the protection of forests in Europe. 28-30 April 2003, Vienna, Austria. 2 pp.
- McRoberts, R.E., Nelson, M.D. & Wendt, D.G. (2002). Stratified estimation of forest area using satellite imagery, inventory data, and the k-nearest neighbours technique. Remote Sensing of Environment, 82 (Issues 2-3), 457-468.
- Mikaelsson, M., Berggren, R. & Möller, L. (2006). Mervärdesskog Del 1 Förslag och ställningstaganden. SOU 2006:81. Stockholm. 141 pp.
- Mikusinski, G., Angelstam, P. & Sporrong, U. (2003). Distribution of deciduous stands in villages located in coniferous forest landscapes in Sweden. Ambio, 33 (8), 520-526.
- Molina, M.J. and F.S. Rowland (1974). Stratospheric sink for chlorofluoromethanes: chlorine atom catalyzed destruction of ozone. Nature, 249, 810-812.
- Myrdal, J. (2005). Om humanvetenskap och naturvetenskap [On human and natural sciences]. Swedish university of agricultural sciences, Department of economics, Report 159, 2005. 143 pp.
- Newell, R.G. & Stavins, R.N. (2000). Climate change and forest sinks: factors affecting the costs of carbon sequestration. Journal of Environmental Economics and Management, 40, 211-235.
- NFI (National Forest Inventory) [WWW database], (July 27, 2008). Swedish National Forest Inventory online search, Umeå. URL http://wwwtaxwebb.slu.se/TabellForm/jsp/EgenDefinierad.jsp?sel Sokningstyp=1&selSubgroup=7
- Nordanstig, G. (2004). Skogens sociala värden Hur kan skogens sociala värden tas tillvara bättre för att främja hållbar utvecklig? Vad kan skogsvårdsorganisationer bidra med? Meddelande 3-2004, Swedish forest agency, Jönköping. 37 pp.
- Noss, R.F. (2001). Beyond Kyoto: Forest Management in a Time of Rapid Climate Change. Conservation Biology 15 (3), 578–590. Obbarius, C.L. (1857). Skogsnaturläran. Örebro. 184 pp.

- O'Brien. E. A. (2005). Publics and woodlands in England: Wellbeing, local identity, social learning, conflict and management. Forestry, 78, 321-336.
- O'Hara, K. (2002). The historical development of uneven-aged silviculture in North America. Forestry, *75*, 339-346.
- Oliver, C.D. & Larson, B.C. (1996). Forest stand dynamics. John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken. 520 pp.
- Pacala, S. & Socolow, R.H. (2004). Stabilization wedges: Solving the Climate Problem for the Next 50 Years with Current Technologies. Science, 305 (5686), 968–972.
- Palmstierna, H. (1967). Plundring svält förgiftning. Rabén & Sjögren, Stockholm. 150 pp.
- Pennanen, J. (2002). Forest age distribution under mixed-severity fire regimes - a simulation-based analysis for middle boreal Fennoscandia. Silva Fennica, 36 (1), 213-231.
- Peterken, G. F. (1999) Applying natural forestry concepts in an intensively managed landscape. Global Ecology and Biogeography, 8, 321-328.
- Pickett, S.T.A. & White, P.S. (1985). (Eds.). The ecology of natural disturbance and patch dynamics. Academic Press, New York. 422 pp.
- Rametsteiner, E. & Mayer, P. (2004). Sustainable forest management and Pan-European forest policy. Ecological Bulletins, 51, 51-57.
- Reese, H., Nilsson, M., Granqvist Pahlén, T., Hagner, O., Joyce, S., Tingelöf, U. et al. (2003). Countrywide estimates of forest variables using satellite data and field data from the National Forest Inventory. Ambio, 32 (8), 542-548.
- Reese, H., Granqvist Pahlen, T., Egberth, M., Nilsson, M. & Olsson, H. (2005). Automated estimation of forest parameters for Sweden using Landsat data and the kNN algorithm. In: Proceedings, 31st International Symposium on Remote Sensing of Environment. 4 pp.
- Roberge, J.-M. (2006). Umbrella species as a conservation planning tool - an assessment using resident birds in hemiboreal and boreal forests (PhD dissertation). Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Umeå. 33 pp.

Rodhe, A. & Seibert, J. (1999). Wetland occurrence in relation to topography - A test of topographic indices as moisture indicators. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 98/99, 325-340.

Rydberg, D. & Falck, J. (2000). Urban forestry in Sweden - A review. Landscape and Urban Planning, 47 (Issue 1-2), 1-18.

- Rydberg, D. (2001). Skogens sociala värden (Skogsstyrelsen Rapport 8J 2001). National board of forestry, Jönköping. 40 pp.
- Rülcker, C., Angelstam, P. & Rosenberg, P. (1994). Ekologi i skoglig planering - förslag på planeringsmodell i Särnaprojektet med naturlandskapet som förebild (SkogForsk Redogörelse nr. 8.). Skogforsk, Uppsala.
- Sayer, J.A. & Maginnis, S. (2005). Forests in Landscapes Ecosystem Approaches to Sustainability. Earthscan Publications Ltd., London. 348 pp.
- Scheraga, J.D. & Grambsch, A.E. (1998). Risks, opportunities, and adaptation to climate change. Climate research, 1998, 10, 85–95.
- Schuck, A., Parviainen, J. & Bücking, W. (1994). A review of approaches to forestry research on structure, succession and biodiversity of undisturbed and semi-natural forests and woodlands in Europe (Working Paper, No. 3). European Forest Institute, Joensuu. 64 pp.
- Schuler, A. (1998). Sustainability and biodiversity forest historical notes on two main concerns of environmental utilisation. In: Bachmann, P., Köhl, M. & Päivinen, R. (Eds.), Assessment of Biodiversity for Improved Forest Planning. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp. 353–560.
- Schutz, J.-P. (1994). History and current importance of unevenaged silviculture in Europe. Allgemeine Forst und Jagdzeitung, 165, 106-114.
- Scott, J.M., Davis, F., Csuti, B., Noss, R., Butterfield, B. et al., (1993). Gap analysis: a geographic approach to protection of biological diversity. Wildl. Monogr. 123, 1–41.
- Selander, S. (1955). Det levande landskapet i Sverige. Albert Bonniers förlag, Stockholm. 484 pp.

Shindler, B.A., Beckley, T.M. & Finlay, M.C. (eds) 2003. Two paths toward sustainable forests. Public values in Canada and the United States. Oregon State University Press, Corvallis. 359 pp.

- Siiskonen, H. (2006). The "conflict" between traditional forest knowledge and scientific forest management in twentiethcentury Finland. In J. Parrotta, M. Agnoletti & E. Johan (Eds.), Cultural heritage and sustainable forest management: The role of traditional knowledge. MCPFE Proceedings, Part 1, 155-164.
- Solberg, S., Andreassen, K., Clarke, N., Tørseth, K., Tveito, O.E., Strand, G.H. & Tomter, S., (2004). The possible influence of nitrogen and acid deposition on forest growth in Norway. Forest Ecology and Management, 2004; 192, 241–249.
- Spittlehouse, D.L.& Stewart, R.B. (2003). Adaptation to climate change in forest management. BC Journal of Ecosystems and Management, 4 (1), 1-5.
- Sprugel, D.G. (1991). Disturbance, equilibrium and environmental variability: what is "natural" vegetation in a changing environment? Biological Conservation, 58, 1-18.
- af Ström, I. (1830). Handbok för skogshushållare. Direct. Henrik A Nordström, Stockholm. 321 pp.
- Tabbush, P. (2004). Public money for public good? Public participation in forest planning. Forestry, 77, 145-156.
- Tahvanainen, L., Tyrväinen, L., Ihalainen, M., Vuorela, N. & Kolehmainen, O. (2001). Forest management and public perceptions — visual versus verbal information. Landscape and Urban Planning, 53 (1-4), 53-70.
- Taverna R., Hofer P., Werner F., Kaufmann E. & Thürig E. (2007). The CO2 Effects of the Swiss Forestry and Timber Industry. Scenarios of future potential for climate-change mitigation. Environmental studies no. 0739. Federal Office for the Environment, Bern. 102 pp.
- Tomppo, E. (1991). Satellite imagery-based national inventory of Finland. International Archives of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing, 28, 7-1, 419-424.
- Tress, B., Tress, G., Van der Valk, A., Fry, G. (Eds.) 2003. Interdisciplinary and transdisciplinary landscapes studies: potential and limitations. DELTA Series 2, Wageningen, 192 pp.

- Tucker, G. M. & Evans, M. I. (1997). Habitats for birds in Europe: a conservation strategy for the wider environment (BirdLife Conservation Series no. 6.). BirdLife International, Cambridge, England. 464 pp.
- Wallmo, U. (1897). Rationell skogsafverkning. Praktiska råd till såväl större som mindre enskilde skogsägare, samt svar på en fråga för dagen. CE Frizes Kongl. Hofbokhandel, Stockholm. 288 pp.
- Ward, B. & Dubos, R. (1972). Only One Earth The care and maintenance of a small planet, Deutsch, London. 225 pp.
- Watkins, C. (1990). Woodland management and conservation -Britain's ancient woodland. David & Charles, Newton Abbot. 160 pp.
- Wenner, M. (2000). Public participation in forestry in Europé and North America (Report of the team of specialists on participation in forestry). International Labour Office, Geneva. 144 pp.
- WCED. (1987). Our Common Future. Oxford University Press, Oxford. 400 pp.
- Wieslander, G. (1936). The shortage of forest in Sweden during the 17th and 18th centuries. Sveriges Skogsvårdsförbunds Tidskrift, 34, 593-633.
- Wilkie, M.L., Holmgren, P & Castaneda F. (2003). Sustainable forest management and the ecosystem approach: two concepts, one goal. Working paper FM 25, Forest resources division, FAO, Rome. 40 pp.
- Zinko, U. (2004). Plants go with the flow: predicting spatial distribution of plant species in the boreal forest (PhD dissertation). Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Umeå. 36 pp.
- Zinko, U., Seibert, J., Dynesius, M. & Nilsson, C., (2005). Plant species numbers predicted by a topography based groundwater-flow index. Ecosystems, 8 (4), 430-441.

# Acknowledgements

Financial support for this thesis has been provided by FORMAS, the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, and the EU Baltic Sea Region Interreg 3B programme.

I like to thank my main supervisor Per Angelstam for sharing his knowledge, experience, approach to work, academic network and friends. Especially I appreciate Per's aim to make his research useful and to contribute to a more sustainable world. During this work my mood has been up and down and Per has been extra ordinarily good at making me feel better and to build my own confidence in this work. He has also involved me in a vast number of interesting projects, field trips, studies, and applications that have made my learning involve all parts of a researchers work. And at last but not least we have had a lot of fun together. Thanks Per.

I also would like to thank a vast number of colleagues and friends that have taught me very much the last few years. Especially I like to thank my colleagues at the school for forest engineers that I have called as soon I did not understand a forestry term, practise or had a hard time to translate technical words to English or Swedish. The discussions with Roland and Bosse have been very helpful and they happily answered my phone calls in their office, at home or during their holidays. Thanks to Jean-Michel for a few really good discussions and help with SPSS. There are many more that should have been on this page in this paragraph.

I am also thankful to my wife Lourdes and my children Maymay, Amanda and Vinzent for their understanding and the happiness that they give me. I hope I can pay back to you one day. Love you!

# Publications from The Department of Forest Products, SLU

#### Reports

- 1. Ingemarson, I. 2007. De skogliga tjänstemännens syn på arbetet i Gudruns spår. Institutionen för skogens produkter, SLU, Uppsala
- 2. Lönnstedt, L. 2007. *Financial analysis of the U.S. based forest industry*. Department of Forest Products, SLU, Uppsala
- 3. Lindholm, G. 2007. Marknadsanalys för produkter av grankärna. nstitutionen för skogens produkter, SLU, Uppsala
- 4. Stendahl, M. 2007. Product development in the Swedish and Finnish wood industry. Department of Forest Products, SLU, Uppsala
- Nylund, J-E. & Ingemarson, F. 2007. Forest tenure in Sweden a historical perspective. Department of Forest Products, SLU, Uppsala
- 6. Lönnstedt, L. 2008. Forest industrial product companies A comparison between Japan, Sweden and the U.S. Department of Forest Products, SLU, Uppsala
- 7. Axelsson, R. 2008. Forest policy, continuous tree cover forest and uneven-aged forest management in Sweden's boreal forest. Licentiate thesis. Department of Forest Products, SLU, Uppsala

#### Master thesis

- 1. Stangebye, J. 2007. Inventering och klassificering av kvarlämnad virkesvolym vid slutavverkning. *Inventory and classification of non-cut volumes at final cut operations*. Institutionen för skogens produkter, SLU, Uppsala
- 2. Rosenquist, B. 2007. Bidragsanalys av dimensioner och postningar En studie vid Vida Alvesta. *Financial analysis of economic contribution from dimensions and sawing patterns A study at Vida Alvesta*. Institutionen för skogens produkter, SLU, Uppsala
- 3. Ericsson, M. 2007. En lyckad affärsrelation? Två fallstudier. *A successful business relation? Two case studies*. Institutionen för skogens produkter, SLU, Uppsala
- Ståhl, G. 2007. Distribution och försäljning av kvalitetsfuru En fallstudie. Distribution and sales of high quality pine lumber – A case study. Institutionen för skogens produkter, SLU, Uppsala
- Ekholm, A. 2007. Aspekter på flyttkostnader, fastighetsbildning och fastighetstorlekar. Aspects on fixed harvest costs and the size and dividing up of forest estates. Institutionen för skogens produkter, SLU, Uppsala
- Gustafsson, F. 2007. Postningsoptimering vid sönderdelning av fura vid Säters Ångsåg. Saw pattern optimising for sawing Scots pine at Säters Ångsåg. Institutionen för skogens produkter, SLU, Uppsala
- Götherström, M. 2007. Följdeffekter av olika användningssätt för vedråvara en ekonomisk studie. *Consequences of different ways to utilize raw wood – an economic study*. Institutionen för skogens produkter, SLU, Uppsala
- 8. Nashr, F. 2007. *Profiling the strategies of Swedish sawmilling firms*. Department of Forest Products, SLU, Uppsala
- Högsborn, G. 2007. Sveriges producenter och leverantörer av limträ En studie om deras marknader och kundrelationer. Swedish producers and suppliers of glulam – A study about their markets and customer relations. Institutionen för skogens produkter, SLU, Uppsala

- Andersson, H. 2007. Establishment of pulp and paper production in Russia Assessment of obstacles. Etablering av pappers- och massaproduktion i Ryssland – bedömning av möjliga hinder. Department of Forest Products, SLU, Uppsala
- 11. Persson, F. 2007. Exponering av trägolv och lister i butik och på mässor En jämförande studie mellan sport- och bygghandeln. Institutionen för skogens produkter, SLU, Uppsala
- 12. Lindström, E. 2008. En studie av utvecklingen av drivningsnettot i skogsbruket. *A study of the net conversion contribution in forestry*. Institutionen för skogens produkter, SLU, Uppsala
- 13. Karlhager, J. 2008. *The Swedish market for wood briquettes Production and market development*. Department of Forest Products, SLU, Uppsala
- 14. Höglund, J. 2008. *The Swedish fuel pellets industry: Production, market and standardization*. Den Svenska bränslepelletsindustrin: Produktion, marknad och standardisering. Department of Forest Products, SLU, Uppsala
- 15. Trulson, M. 2008. Värmebehandlat trä att inhämta synpunkter i produktutvecklingens tidiga fas. *Heat-treated wood to obtain opinions in the early phase of product development*. Institutionen för skogens produkter, SLU, Uppsala
- 16. Nordlund, J. 2008. Beräkning av optimal batchstorlek på gavelspikningslinjer hos Vida Packaging i Hestra. *Calculation of optimal batch size on cable drum flanges lines at Vida Packaging in Hestra*. Institutionen för skogens produkter, SLU, Uppsala
- 17. Norberg, D. & Gustafsson, E. 2008. Organizational exposure to risk of unethical behaviour In Eastern European timber purchasing organizations. Department of Forest Products, SLU, Uppsala
- Bäckman, J. 2008. Kundrelationer mellan Setragroup AB och bygghandeln. *Customer Relationsship – between Setragroup AB and the DIY-sector*. Institutionen för skogens produkter, SLU, Uppsala
- 19. Richnau, G. 2008. Landscape approach to implement sustainability policies? value profiles of forest owner groups in the Helgeå river basin, South Sweden. Department of Forest Products, SLU, Uppsala
- 20. Sokolov, S. 2008. *Financial analysis of the Russian forest product companies*. Department of Forest Products, SLU, Uppsala